IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,729

JAMES AGAN,

Appellant,

versus

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARRY **HELM** SPALDING Capital Collateral Representative Florida Bar **No.** 0125540

MARTIN J. McGLAIN Assistant CCR Florida Bar No. 0754773

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 1533 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 16, 1980, Mr. Agan was indicted for murder in the first degree. He was charged with killing Dana DeWitt, a fellow inmate at Florida State Prison. Mr. DeWitt had been found stabbed to death in his cell on September 19, 1980. During the ensuing investigation, Mr. Agan confessed to the homicide. That confession, along with Mr. Agan's statements made directly to the grand jury, served as the basis for the indictment.

Following Mr. Agan's initial confession, before the indictment had been returned, the public defender's office was appointed to represent Mr. Agan. Specifically, Assistant Public Defender John Stinson was assigned as Mr. Agan's counsel. Immediately after the indictment was returned, Mr. Stinson moved to withdraw on the basis of a case load conflict. On October 20, 1980, the Motion was granted, and Mack Futch was appointed to represent Mr. Agan.

On November 24, 1980, Mr. Agan pled guilty and was sentenced to death.

During the proceedings, the State represented that there was no mitigating or exculpatory evidence to disclose except Mr. Agan's identification of the wrong knife as the murder weapon. In this regard, the prosecutor informed the court:

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Excuse me, Mr. Agan.

The issue of exculpatory information, under what I believe to be my responsibility under Grady [sic] v. Maryland decision, Your Honor, would be the following:

That the defendant, although testifying very clearly to the knife having stuck in the bone of Mr. Dana DeWitt, which **is** very strong valid evidence as supported by the Medical Examiner, Mr. Agan described, at least tentatively, and said that that could have been a particular weapon being approximately consistent with the width and the lengthh of the weapon that the Medical Examiner would say was the weapon that was used.

He described it as being a weapon that he used. It was shown to him and he said, "Yeah, that looks like the weapon."

In his statement to Inspector Turner, as well as his statement taken by me before the Grand Jury, he indicated that the knife that he used stuck in the neck and that he had pulled the knife out and that a gauze bandage came off that knife that he threw away.

That knife was found in or around adjacent to the area of the cell of the deceased in the outside ground area.

There was also another knife that was found that had a wooden handle on it, which was of a different design and different size but, nonetheless, consistent with the depth and the width of the wounds that the Medical Examiner would testify to. That particular knife with the wooden handle, Your Honor, was submitted along with the other knife that was submitted to the Florida Department of Criminal Law Enforcement Laboratory, as proper investigation by the Department of Corrections would dictate.

They submitted those weapons.

The weapon that Mr. Agan had tentatively identified to me was not the weapon that came back with the blood match and type and group of Mr. Dana Dewitt. The weapon that he did not indicate, that had the wooden handle, was the weapon that came back with a blood type and group, I believe, that the defendant or, rather, the victim.

That is the only information that I can consider, in this case, to be exculpatory in some sense or fashion. I do, however, stand on what has already been indicated in the factual basis which, in my opinion, would be those facts which would support the trial of this case as well as supporting the Indictment in the prosecution of this defendant. That is one matter, however, that I feel obligated even though I don't have a complete report from the lab to tender, on behalf of Mr. Futch, as exculpatory information.

(R. 46-48) (emphasis added).

a

However, contrary to the prosecutor's representations, a wealth of additional exculpatory evidence existed at that time and was not disclosed to Mr. Agan's counsel until January of 1989. Mr. L. E. Turner was the lead prison investigator into the DeWitt homicide, and maintained his own file on the homicide. This file contained conclusive evidence that Mr. Agan did not commit the murder, and that the murder was committed by another inmate, Michael Gross. Included in the file was information identifying Michael Gross as the killer.

The following note from Mr. Turner to Richard Dugger, referring to a telephone conversation with Mr. DeWitt's stepfather, Mr. Carl E. Fry, Sr., was in Mr. Turner's file:

Had telephone conversation with DeWitt's Step-Father who stated

^{&#}x27;The State Attorney's own file is missing, and has been unavailable for inspection.

he had a letter from DeWitt directing him to send \$50 each to Michael Gross and Lawrence Cormack as they were threatening his (DeWitt's) life if he didn't do the above.

(S. 53). There is a notation on the letter indicating that this incident occurred September 5th or 6th, two weeks before the murder (Id.).

On September 9, 1980, just ten days before his murder, Mr. DeWitt wrote a letter to Carl E. Fry, Sr. The letter is date stamped as received by the investigator's office September 30, 1980 (S. 55), and was contained in Mr. Turner's file. The letter speaks for itself, as it clearly implicates Michael Gross and Lawrence Cormack in DeWitt's murder:

M did not come by with the mower today. For all I know, since I didn't see him today, he may have transferred and you may hear here from him in a day or two. In either event, whether he's transferred or comes over tomorrow, I must make my decision now! Per my conversation in last night's letter, I told you of the several options available. Not a wide variety, is it? . . . Since I don't wish to hurt anyone this close to our ballgame, and I can not see hiding on "Max," the best solution I can assume will be to Po ahead and pay the two desperadoes. If, after they've spent their money they try to do it again, I'll have to take a different path. For the time being, I want to get the burden off my back, so, if you don't mind, please send 2 money orders. one to Lawrence Cormack 11048866. and one to Michael R. Gross 11072141 -- \$50.00 each. Enclose one sentence in each letter, saying, "Enclosed is \$50.00 to cover your expenses." Sign each with the letter "D". Don't say any thing more, above all, don't place your name on the return address -- use initials only, okay? Carl, believe me, if I thought there was another way around this problem, aside from extreme violence, I would never ask you to help, but there isn't! It's imperative that I pay the extortion at your earliest convenience. The inmate bank takes 4-5 days to process the mo's, so please hurry.

Aside from all this bullshit, in case I change my mind in saying anything to Max, don't, when you see him next week -- or whenever -- say anything about this dilemma. In any event, I'll write you again tomorrow night and tell you more, or if M shows up.

What more can I say? I'm sick to my stomach about everything! Don't feel like saying more.

Love,

Dan

P.S. Please keep this to yourself.

(S. 55-56) (emphasis added).

On September 15, 1980, just four days before his murder, Mr. DeWitt wrote

the following letter, also contained in Mr. Turner's file, to Cindy Pellagrino:

I'm in trouble! On Saturday, Sept. 6, while I was lying on my bunk reading my racing forms, two white men threw down on me with knives. They wanted money.
I don't -- or didn't -- have any money. To make a long story short, I did some fast talking. So here it is 9/15 and I still haven't done anything. Neither have I given any money nor have I destroyed one of the extortionists. Unfortunately, I have only 3 alternatives: check-in (jail) or pay the \$100.00 they desire. My 3rd course of action, is to attack! Because I'm on the verge of leaving -- hopefully -- this God forsaken, rat infested prison, I really don't wish to hurt anyone. However, it's too late to play it by ear. There's no doubt in my mind that the aparessors will stick me if I don't pay their request. Hell of a place, isn't it? Cindy, I'm truly sorry to have to bring you into my personal affairs. But, do I have any choice? Who else can I complain to? I certainly can't say anything to anyone I know that lives here. Their advice would be to kill one of the bad guys. Aside from that, I don't want anyone to know my business. It's an unfortunate situation, wouldn't you say? Moreover, my step father and my professor advised me to go to jail. In the 3 1/2 years I've been here, nothing like this has ever happened. So, anyway, what's Dana going to do? When Dana doesn't know, who does? I shall keep you informed of any new developments. . . . (P.S. keep this to yourself).

* * *

Cindy, you'll have to excuse my reticence tonight, I'm too worried about my personal problems to write a clear letter. In other words, my bullshit is very weak for a 15 Sept. 1980. Will write again soon.

(S. 61-62) (emphasis added).

Also contained in Mr. Turner's file was part of a letter written by Mr.

DeWitt to Cindy Pellegrino dated September 17, 1980. The following portion of that letter -- written just two days before the murder -- expressed Mr. DeWitt's concern for his safety due to Gross and Cormack's extortion scheme:

Well, I'm still alive and well. <u>I still haven't taken care of my little problem I told you about on Monday. They want money!</u>
Unfortunately, as I've told you before, I receive a check for \$25.00 once every 30 days from my older brother's Chase Manhattan Bank account. Doesn't leave any extra for luxuries or recreation, does it? That's one of the reasons I wanted you to find some acid; thus enabling me to earn a little extra money. This is one hell of a place, isn't it?

(S. 65) (emphasis added).

After the homicide, Cindy Pellegrino wrote Mr. Turner, voicing her concerns that if Mr. Dewitt owed Mr. Agan gambling debts she would have known. This letter obviously related to the State's theory that the homicide resulted because Mr. DeWitt owed Mr. Agan a gambling debt.

Enclosed you will find all the information Dana DeWitt mentioned to me about the events leading up to this murder. I hope you will find them useful, even though no mention of names is given.

As far as I am concerned, I am glad to be of any help. Dana and I were very close and we were both very excited about our first meeting. Unfortunately, it didn't turn out as expected.

I know the stabbing has been attributed to a gambling debt. Dana would have mentioned that, as he tells me much of what happens at F.S.P. Also, he told me of an occasion he lost \$50 and a watch. There is no reason why he couldn't or wouldn't mention the debt. Also, I have found out the only thing he owed anyone was \$2. That is not a very large amount, is it?

(S. 67) (emphasis added).

However, the most startling item contained in Mr. Turner's file was the following field note:

9/22/80 4:53 p.m. --Horace Anderson -- P/M - DC #G-011681

<u>Luociues Kitchen</u>, 034269, on V-Wing standing at window and <u>observed Gross go into DeWitt's cell</u>. <u>DeWitt was facing window talking to Kitchen</u>. Kitchen saw Gross stab DeWitt in the neck.

(\$. 70) (emphasis added). Mr. Luociues Kitchen witnessed Gross stab Mr. DeWitt.

Mr. Turner had knowledge of an eye witness who actually saw the victim killed by

Gross. This evidence was undisclosed to Mr. Agan's counsel.

Another field note reflected that inmate Robert Todd Harrison told Mr.

Turner that on September 14, 1980 -- five days before the murder -- Michael

Gross told Harrison to stay away from Dana DeWitt: "I got to kill DeWitt. Stay away from him." (S. 72).

Without benefit of this exculpatory evidence, counsel pled Mr. Agan guilty. Without benefit of this exculpatory evidence, the circuit court accepted the guilty plea and sentenced Mr. Agan to death. Without benefit of the exculpatory

evidence, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentence of death. Agan v. State, 445 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 1983).

On February 22, 1985, a warrant was signed for Mr. Agan's execution. A stay was entered to allow Mr. Agan to obtain counsel and pursue a Rule 3.850 motion which had been filed pro se. Included in the attachments to the Rule 3.850 motion were portions of a Department of Corrections internal investigation into Mr. Agan's case. This investigation had been conducted in 1982 (T. 599-620). Mr. Agan and his counsel obtained access to the investigation through a public records request to inspect the Department's files. However, neither Mr. Agan nor his counsel received a copy of Mr. Turner's investigative file or the materials contained therein. Without the benefit of the exculpatory evidence contained in Mr. Turner's file, Mr. Agan's Rule 3.850 motion was summarily denied on August 8, 1985. Also without the benefit of the exculpatory evidence contained in Mr. Turner's file, this Court affirmed the summary denial of the Rule 3.850 motion on February 7, 1987. Agan v. State, 503 So. 2d 1254 (Fla. 1987).

On April 21, 1987, the Governor signed a second death warrant. Mr. Agan filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus with this Court. This petition was denied on June 8, 1987. Agan v. Dugger, 508 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 1987). Thereafter, Mr. Agan filed a federal petition for habeas corpus relief. A stay of execution was granted by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Agan v. Dugger, 828 F.2d 1496 (11th Cir. 1987). Subsequently, the Eleventh Circuit ordered that the federal district court conduct an evidentiary hearing. Agan v. Dunner, 835 F.2d 1337 (11th Cir. 1987). At the time of this second death warrant, Mr. Agan's counsel again requested access to the Department of Corrections Inspector General's file regarding Mr. Agan's case. Again, as in 1985, Mr. Turner's file was not disclosed.

The evidentiary hearing commenced in federal district court on October 31,

1988. Mr. L. E. Turner appeared at the evidentiary hearing on October 31, 1988, pursuant to a subpoena duces tecum issued by Mr. Agan (S. 41). The file that Mr. Turner brought to the hearing contained the exculpatory information set out above, which had not been previously turned over to Mr. Agan by the State. The file had been compiled while Mr. Turner was investigating the DeWitt homicide. It included his "field notes" and other documentation he gathered during his investigation. Mr. Turner's testimony was cut short by the federal court before Mr. Agan's counsel obtained access to Mr. Turner's file. While Mr. Turner was waiting to be released from his subpoena, Bret Strand, then an investigator (now an attorney) for the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative, was given a brief opportunity to scan the file. It was then for the first time learned that the file contained material never before released to Mr. Agan's counsel (S. 45-46).

Mr. Strand informed Mr. Turner that the information in the file was not included with the materials concerning the DeWitt murder investigation turned over to Mr. Agan by the Department of Corrections. Mr. Strand on behalf of Mr. Agan made a public records request that a copy of the materials in the file be turned over to Mr. Agan. Mr. Turner asked Mr. Gary Printy, co-counsel for Respondent in the federal hearing, whether he should provide Mr. Strand with access to the file. Mr. Printy advised Mr. Turner that he should not allow Mr. Strand access to the file at that time (S. 46).

On November 1, 1988, counsel for Mr. Agan wrote a letter to Mr. Turner again seeking access to the file. Mr. Turner was also contacted by telephone concerning the file. However, Mr. Agan's counsel was still denied access to the file (S. 47).

On January 5, 1989, at the direction of Mr. Jerry Vaughn, Inspector General, Department of Corrections, Mr. Agan was finally provided a copy of Mr. Turner's file in compliance with section 119 01, et seq, Florida Statutes (1985)

(S. 47). Inspector Vaughn stated that due to a change in procedure the materials in this file were not included in the official Inspector General's file and thus had not been previously provided to Mr. Agan or his counsel when previous requests to inspect and copy the files had been made (S. 24).

On August 1, 1989, Mr. Agan filed a second Rule 3.850 motion. This motion raised four claims and was premised upon new case law and new facts. On August 25, 1989, the motion was summarily denied without a response from the State. The circuit court ruled that there was neither new case law nor new facts which authorized a second Rule 3.850 motion. The circuit court found that the issues had been previously raised and ruled upon by this Court during the direct appeal and the appeal from the denial of the original Rule 3.850 motion (S. 229). From the circuit court's order summarily denying relief, this appeal was perfected.

Meanwhile, on September 26, 1989, the federal district court held proceedings on Mr. Agan's federal petition for habeas corpus relief in abeyance pending the outcome of Mr. Agan's state court proceedings.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Information which was not disclosed by the State until January of 1989 establishes that Mr. Agan did not commit the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. This information includes letters from the victim to his family and friends indicating that another prison inmate, not Mr. Agan, was extorting money from the victim and that the victim feared that the extortionist would murder him if the extortion was not paid. Most significantly, the previously undisclosed information includes the account of an eyewitness who saw the victim being murdered by the extortionist. Despite repeated previous public records requests for access to information regarding the offense which was in the State's possession, this material exculpatory evidence was not disclosed until January of 1989. The State's failures to disclose this information violated Florida discovery rules, and the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth

amendments. The circuit court's summary denial of this claim was erroneous because the information upon which the claim is based could not have been discovered earlier, the claim requires an evidentiary hearing for proper resolution, and the claim establishes Mr. Agan's entitlement to relief. Mr. Agan is innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. Rule 3.850 relief is mandated.

11. Newly discovered evidence establishes that Mr. Agan is innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. This evidence is properly presented in a Rule 3.850 motion and entitled Mr. Agan to an evidentiary hearing on his allegations. Richardson v. State. Thereafter, Rule 3.850 relief is proper so that Mr. Agan may receive a new, fair trial at which all material facts are presented.

а

а

111. A capital sentencer may not fail to provide independent and serious consideration to the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances presented by a capital defendant in making the sentencing determination. Hitchcock v. Dugger, 107 S. Ct. 1821 (1987); McCrae v. State, 510 So. 2d 874, 880 (Fla. 1987).

Here, the trial judge refused to consider nonstatutory mitigation and imposed death. As this Court first recognized in Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987), Hitchcock is a retroactive change in law requiring reconsideration of claims regarding a capital sentencer's failure to consider nonstatutory mitigation. Analyzed according to the appropriate post-Hitchcock standard of review, the record of the proceedings -- including the trial judge's oral pronouncements and sentencing order -- demonstrates that the judge did not consider nonstatutory mitigation. The circuit court erred in relying on this Court's prior opinions in Mr. Agan's case, rather than applying the constitutionally required post-Hitchcock standard of review.

IV. The trial court failed to provide a factual basis in support of the death sentence, in violation of Florida law and the eighth and fourteenth

amendments. Thus, the record does not demonstrate that the death sentence is based upon an individualized, reasoned judgment regarding the appropriateness of the death sentence. Rule 3.850 relief is proper.

V. This case involves the unconstitutional doubling of aggravating circumstances, in violation of Florida law and the eighth and fourteenth amendments. This unconstitutional doubling of aggravating circumstances created the risk that death was imposed based upon an unguided emotional response and despite the existence of factors calling for a life sentence. Penry v. Lynaugh, 109 S. Ct. 2934 (1989). The error was not harmless. Rule 3.850 relief is proper.

ARGUMENT I

THE STATE'S FAILURE TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE VIOLATED MR. AGAN'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS, AS WELL AS RULE 3.220 OF THE FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE.

Throughout the post-conviction proceedings in this case, Mr. Agan has consistently maintained that he is innocent of the offense for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. Just as consistently, the State has failed to disclose the material exculpatory evidence establishing Mr. Agan's innocence. The true extent of the State's withholding has now come to light -- since 1980, the State has had the evidence establishing Mr. Agan's innocence and has failed to disclose that evidence despite repeated requests from Mr. Agan's counsel. The undisclosed evidence which has finally been revealed conclusively establishes that another prison inmate -- not Mr. Agan -- was extorting money from the victim and that an eyewitness saw the extortionist murder the victim. This finally disclosed evidence demands that an evidentiary hearing be conducted and that Mr. Agan be granted relief from his unconstitutional and wrongful conviction and sentence of death.

As Claim IV of his Rule 3.850 motion filed on August 1, 1989, Mr. Agan

asserted that the State's nondisclosure of material exculpatory evidence violated the Florida discovery rules and the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment. The circuit court denied this claim, saying:

this information has been known to the Defendant and his counsel since the inception of this case. Finally, this issue was also rejected by the Florida Supreme Court in its affirmance of the trial court's denial of the first 3.850 motion.

(s. 232-33). The circuit court's conclusions are erroneous as a matter of fact and law.

A. THE UNDISCLOSED FACTS

а

Contrary to the circuit court's conclusion, the information upon which Mr. Agan's claim is based was only disclosed by the State in 1989 and has not been known "since the inception of this case." In 1980, at the time of Mr. Agan's conviction and sentencing, the only exculpatory information disclosed by the State was that Mr. Agan had identified the wrong knife as the murder weapon. At that time, the prosecutor informed the court:

[THE PROSECUTOR]: Excuse me, Mr. Agan.

The issue of exculpatory information, under what I believe to be my responsibility under Grady [sic] v. Maryland decision, Your Honor, would be the following:

That the defendant, although testifying very clearly to the knife having stuck in the bone of Mr. Dana DeWitt, which is very strong valid evidence as supported by the Medical Examiner, Mr. Agan described, at least tentatively, and said that that could have been a particular weapon being approximately consistent with the width and the lengthh of the weapon that the Medical Examiner would say was the weapon that was used.

He described it as being a weapon that he used. It was shown to him and he said, "Yeah, that looks like the weapon."

In his statement to Inspector Turner, as well as his statement taken by me before the Grand Jury, he indicated that the knife that he used stuck in the neck and that he had pulled the knife out and that a gauze bandage came off that knife that he threw away.

That knife was found in or around adjacent to the area of the cell of the deceased in the outside ground area.

There was also another knife that was found that had a wooden handle on it, which was of a different design and different size but,

nonetheless, consistent with the depth and the width of the wounds that the Medical Examiner would testify to. That particular knife with the wooden handle, Your Honor, was submitted along with the other knife that was submitted to the Florida Department of Criminal Law Enforcement Laboratory, as proper investigation by the Department of Corrections would dictate.

They submitted those weapons.

The weapon that Mr. Agan had tentatively identified to me was not the weapon that came back with the blood match and type and group of Mr. Dana Dewitt. The weapon that he did not indicate, that had the wooden handle, was the weapon that came back with **a** blood type and group, **I** believe, that the defendant or, rather, the victim.

That is the only information that I can consider. in this case, to be exculpatory in some sense or fashion. I do, however, stand on what has already been indicated in the factual basis which, in my opinion, would be those facts which would support the trial of this case as well as supporting the Indictment in the prosecution of this defendant. That is one matter, however, that I feel obligated even though I don't have a complete report from the lab to tender, on behalf of Mr. Futch, as exculpatory information.

(R. 46-48) (emphasis added).

After the prosecutor's assertion that the only exculpatory evidence in the case was Mr. Agan's identification of the wrong knife as the murder weapon, the trial court inquired of defense counsel, "Mr. Futch, do you have exculpatory information" (R. 48). Mr. Futch responded, "I have no exculpatory information, Your Honor" (R. 49). Of course, the recent disclosures by the State demonstrate that a great deal of exculpatory -- indeed, exonerating -- information existed in 1980.

In 1985, Mr. Agan asserted in his pro se Rule 3.850 motion:

44. In 1982, the Department of Corrections investigated itself to determine whether Defendant was offered a concurrent life sentence and a transfer from F. S. P. in return for pleading guilty to a murder the state could not prove. The Department of Corrections determined that the Department of Corrections was innocent of any such wrongdoings. See Department of Corrections Special Investigation Entry #82-2502.

What was admitted by D. O. C. personnel was the following:

a. Inspector Ball, the person who took Defendant's second and very detailed recorded statement, admitted he had "problems" with the case and "questions" about Defendant's guilt.

- b. Four other men were reported to Ball as the offenders, and one of the accused inmates -- Mr. Gross -- had been seen jumping off the second floor from the victim's cell area, running down the walk, turning around and running into his cell. Ball was told that around the time of the assault, inmates saw another inmate named Reed leave his cell on the floor above the victim's with a knife in his hand, and that Reed continued to the second floor -- the victim's floor.
- c. Ball has destroyed <u>all</u> evidence in the case -- a knife, bloody clothing, and other evidence.
- d. Investigator Ball knew in 1980 that the Defendant was reluctant to talk much about the crime, and as the investigators learned more and spoke with Defendant about their knowledge, the closer Defendant's confessions came to the known facts. See Exhibit 33, attached.
- (T. 40-41). Again, in 1985, as in 1980, a great deal of exculpatory evidence existed but was unrevealed by the State.

That evidence -- finally revealed in 1989 -- is materially different from anything which was known before. The evidence was not known before because the State concealed it. The evidence was contained in the investigative file of L. E. Turner, who investigated the offense for the Department of Corrections. The evidence remained in the custody of the Department of Corrections from 1980 until 1989, when it was finally disclosed. The evidence establishes that Mr. Agan was unconstitutionally convicted and sentenced to death.

Mr. Turner's file contains evidence demonstrating that another inmate, not Mr. Agan, was extorting money from the victim and that in fact that inmate, not Mr. Agan, murdered the victim. For example, in Mr. Turner's file was a note memoralizing Mr. Turner's conversation with the victim's stepfather. Neither the note nor its contents were disclosed as required by Florida discovery rules and by the fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendments. The note identified Mr. Gross as a person who threatened the victim's life unless the victim paid extortion:

Had telephone conversation with DeWitt's Step-Father who stated he had a letter from DeWitt directing him to send \$50 each to Michael Gross and Lawrence Cormack as they were threatening his (DeWitt's) life if he didn't do the above. (S. 53). A notation on the letter indicates that this incident occurred September 5th or 6th. two weeks before the murder.

On September 9, 1980, just ten days before his murder, Mr. DeWitt wrote his stepfather. This letter is date stamped as received by the Department of Corrections investigator's office September 30, 1980. The undisclosed letter clearly implicates Michael R. Gross and Lawrence Cormack in DeWitt's murder, establishing their efforts to extort money from the victim:

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