#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES AGAN,

Appellant,

<u>V</u>

v.

**CASE NO.** 74,729

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Agan is not entitled to merits review of his four untimely and procedurally barred claims. Mr. Agan did not allege or show any valid basis for consideration of these issues. Therefore, the trial court should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

# POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING MR. AGAN'S "BRADY" CLAIM.

Mr. Agan's appeal centers on the applicability of certain procedural bars to his case, not on the "merits". If the trial court erred in applying the procedural bars attending Rule 3.850, then the proper remedy is a remand for merits review, not merits review de novo in this Honorable Court. Thus, Mr. Agan's brief is superfluous and irrelevant to the issues at bar.

Mr. Agan's judgment and sentence became final in 1983. Under Rule 3.850, Agan had until January 1, 1987, to file any desired petition. After that, any petition would be considered time-barred. Johnson v. State, 536 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1988).

Mr. Agan did, of course, file a Rule 3.850 petition and a petition for writ of habeas corpus, losing both. Thus, in addition to any time bar attending his case, Agan also incurred the procedural bars against the filing of successive Rule 3.850 petitions.

It is important to remind the Court at the outset that the federal courts, to date, have afforded proper deference to our procedural rules in this case. The strategic object of Mr. Agan's present case is to induce and delude this Court into "merits" determinations on these claims to revive his flagging federal petition.

The federal courts, discussing the issue of comity, have made it clear that the state courts' procedural bars will only be

recognized when a given case is clearly decided on the basis of said procedural bar. Harris v. Reed, 489 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 103 L.Ed.2d 308 (1989); see also Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 103 L.Ed.2d 334 (1989).

It is undisputed that Agan's second petition was filed after January 1, 1987, and therefore was untimely. It is equally undisputed that said petition sought to reargue a so-called "Brady" claim that was raised and argued in Agan's first petition.

Agan attempts to justify this second petition by arguing that new evidence, obtained last year pursuant to Chapter 119, now lends additional support to his so-called **Brady** claim. This contention is simply incorrect.

First, Agan's only "Chapter 119" demand was filed in late 1988, even though the statute was available to Agan prior to the filing of his first Rule 3.850 petition. This belated use of Chapter 119 as a stall tactic was condemned by this Court in Demps v. State, 515 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1987), and again in Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989). Mr. Agan cannot use his 1988 invocation of Chapter 119 as an excuse for not presenting this "new evidence" before. Demps could and should have incorporated such a demand in his first petition.

Second, the materials obtained from Mr. Turner are merely cumulative and redundant. Agan knew of the existence of alternate suspects when he and counsel (Mr. Brinkmeyer) requested and obtained a special D.O.C. investigation into this case during the time Agan's appeal was pending. Agan's convenient and sporadic factual averments fail to mention:

- (1) Inmate Anderson's story about some other prisoner seeing a third person (Gross) commit the crime was never corroborated by the socalled eyewitness. (F 76-109).
- (2) Inmate Gross had a solid alibi. (F 90).
- (3) Agan also confessed to is own lawyer, Mr. Futch. (F 378).
- (4) Mr. Stinson, Agan's first lawyer, knew that alternate suspects had been checked even before Agan pled. (F 126).

Thus, Agan has failed to demonstrate either the existence of previously undiscoverable evidence or the existence of "new facts' of which he was totally unaware. As such, Agan has failed to justify either the timing of his petition or the filing of a second successive claim. Thus, the lower court's ruling should be affirmed.

## POINT II

MR. AGAN IS NOT ENTITLED TO RETRIAL ON THE BASIS OF NEWLY-DISCOVERED EVIDENCE.

Citing to **Richardson** v. **State**, 546 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 1989), Mr. Agan contends that "new evidence'' somehow entitles him to a "new trial".

Agan pled guilty. Agan did not go to trial. Agan preempted defense counsel and prevented counsel from performing any investigation. Agan even confessed to defense counsel. Agan's appellate lawyer provoked a formal reinvestigation of this case seven years ago. Agan also raised these same issues in a prior

<sup>1</sup> The letters regarding other threats to the victim reflect DeWitt's unpopularity but did not eliminate Mr. Agan's own, uncontested and undisputed, personal motive for wanting to kill DeWitt. Agan got to DeWitt first, that's all.

Rule 3.850 proceeding in which he could have, but did not, file a Chapter 119 demand.

Mr. Agan, nine years after trial, now floats into court and contends that he suddenly wants to force the State to trial. We submit that Agan has failed to show due diligence in the procurement of this so-called "evidence". We further submit that Mr. Agan's recitations of non-record "facts" omits, as noted above, the fact that inmate Gross has an alibi, that inmate Anderson's story could not be corroborated and that Agan's own motive to kill DeWitt is undiminished by the "new evidence". Also, Agan confessed. Agan is not entitled to relief.

More to the point, Mr. Agan should not be permitted to use Richardson as a back-door vehicle for some "merits" review of his Brady claim. Agan's devious ploy cannot overcome the fact that remedies, either by the former petition for writ of error coram nobis or by Rule 3.850 could have been utilized (and supported by a Chapter 119 demand) at any time after 1984. Thus, the claim is time-barred and procedurally barred notwithstanding Richardson. See Harris v. Reed, supra.

#### POINT III

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO REARGUMENT OF HIS "HITCHCOCK' CLAIM.

Mr. Agan pled guilty and waived any advisory jury. As such, no jury instructions were used and no "Hitchcock error" was

The State would also rely upon **laches**, since the post-trial investigation revealed that the physical evidence was eventually destroyed after Agan pled guilty and lost his appeals.

committed since **Hitchcock** v. **Dugger**, 481 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_, 107 S.Ct. 1821, 95 L.Ed.2d 347 (1987) was involved only with the propensity of a jury instruction (used prior to 1979, we add) to cause "Lockett" error.

Mr. Agan had "Lockett" review and lost. He has had "Hitchcock" (habeas corpus review) and lost. He cannot obtain a third review by an untimely Rule 3.850 petition. Harris v. Reed, supra.

## POINT IV AND V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF ON AGAN'S REMAINING CLAIMS.

Once again, we address issues which could and should, if preserved, have been raised on direct appeal but instead have appeared for the first time in an untimely and successive Rule 3.850 petition. Procedural dismissal was proper, Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1988); Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); Adams v. State, 14 F.L.W. 235 (Fla. 1989); Bundy v. State, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989); Atkins v. State, 14 F.L.W. 207 (Fla. 1989), and should be affirmed. Harris v. Reed, supra.

#### CONCLUSION

Mr. Agan is not entitled to relief.